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Windsor Castle is one of the official residences of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II. The Queen is Head of State of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, and also Head of the Commonwealth.


The monarch’s direct powers these days are limited: as a constitutional sovereign The Queen normally acts on the advice of her ministers; nevertheless the government, the judges and the armed services all act in the Queen’s name and she is an important symbol of national unity. She is kept closely informed about all aspects of national life and the Prime Minister has a weekly audience with her.

The Queen has certain residual ‘prerogative’ powers which include the appointment of the Prime Minister and granting the dissolution of Parliament.

As well as being Head of the Commonwealth, the Queen is Head of State of sixteen of its fifty-four member countries.


Many of the Queen’s duties are ceremonial and a reminder of the United Kingdome’s long history. They include the State Opening of Parliament, The Queen’s Birthday Parade, state visits and the Garter Day celebrations. 


The Queen is officially in residence at Windsor twice a year: in April and also in June, when the annual Garter Service is held in St George’s Chapel with the installation of new Knights. The Castle is used alternately with Buckingham Palace for ceremonials visits from Heads of State of other countries. The Queen and her family also spend most of their private weekends at the Castle.


Windsor Castle is one of the major repositories of the Royal Collection, where incomparable works of art are displayed in the historic setting for which they were collected or commissioned by successive monarchs. Because of the Status of the building as a working royal palace, objects are sometimes moved. Pictures and work of art are also frequently lent to exhibitions all over the world, so the arrangement may vary from time to time.
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The Development of the Castle
The existing vast structure has evolved over the many centuries from its origin as a Norman fortress. Windsor Castle is the oldest royal residence to have remained in continuous use by the monarchs of Britain and is in many ways an architectural epitome of the history of the nation. The Castle covers an area of about 5 hectares (13 acres) and contains, as well as a royal palace, a magnificent collegiate church and the homes or workplaces of a large number of people, including the  Constable and Governor of the Castle, the Military Knights of Windsor and the Dean and Canons of St George’s Chapel .

The earliest part of the structure is the artificial earthen mound in the middle which was raised c.1080 by William the Conqueror. It supports the Round Tower built by Henry II, who adapted a purely defensive fortification as a residence by building the first royal apartments on the north side of the Upper Ward. The Upper Ward was converted into a huge Gothic palace by a succession of medieval kings, notably Edward III in the fourteenth century. He also founded the Order of the Garter and the associated College of St George in the Lower Ward. Edward IV built the present St George’s Chapel in the fifteenth century. Charles II reconstructed the State Apartments in Baroque taste in the 1670s, and the whole of the Upper Ward was reconstructed to its present picturesque Gothic appearance and the Round Tower heightened by George IV in the 1820s. He was also responsible for a acquiring much of the magnificent art collection which now fills the rooms of the Castle. Following a serious fire in 1992, a new roof was designed for St George’s Hall, and the adjoining Lantern Lobby and the Private Chapel were rebuilt in modern Gothic style. 
HISTORY OF THE CASTLE 
Origins

The Castle was founded by William the Conqueror c.1080 as one of the chain of fortifications round London. It occupies the only natural defensive side in this part of the Thames Valley, 30 meters (100 feet) above the river.


Norman castles were built to a standard plan with an artificial mount (motte) supporting a keep, the entrance to which was protected by a fenced yard or bailey. Windsor is the most notable example of a distinctive version of the plan developed for use on a ridge, with baileys on both sides on central motte.


When first built, the Castle was entirely defensive, but easy access from London and proximity to the old royal hunting forest (now Windsor Great Park) soon recommended it as a royal residence. Henry I had domestic quarters within the Castle as early as 1110 and Henry II built two separate sets of apartments, a stat residence in the Lower Ward, with a hall where he could entertain his court on grate occasions and a smaller residence on the north side if the Upper Ward for his family’s exclusive occupation.


Henry II also began to replace the timber outer walls of the Upper Ward in stone. The basic curtain wall, modified by later alterations, dates from Henry II time, as does the Round Tower on the top of the motte. The curtain wall around the Lower Ward was completed over the next sixty years. The well-preserved section visible from the High Street with three half-round towers was built by Henry III in the 1220s. He carried out extensive works at Windsor, rebuilding Henry II’s apartments in the Lower Ward and adding a new Chapel; parts survive embedded in later structures in the Lower Ward. He also further improved the royal apartments in the Upper Ward. 
Medieval Reconstruction 

The outstanding medieval expansion of Windsor took place in the reign of Edward III (1357-77). The Castle was converted into a Gothic palace and the seat of the new Order of the Grater. The massive architecture of Windsor reflects Edward III’ s  medieval ideal of Christian, chivalric monarchy as clearly as Louis XIV’ s Versailles represents seventeenth-century centralization and Divine Right.

The Lower Ward was transformed for the College of St George.

Founded on 6 August 1348, the College compromised the Dean, twelve Canons, and thirteen Vicars-Choral to conduct regular services. In addition there were to be twenty-six Poor Knights to represent the Knights of the Garter at daily services.


The reconstruction of the Upper Ward began in 1357 under the direction of William of Wykeham, Bishop of Winchester. An inner gatehouse with cylindrical towers (now misleadingly called “Norman Gate”) was built. Stone-vaulted undercrofts (which survived) supported extensive royal apartments on the first floor with separate rooms for the King and Queen (in the tradition of English royal palaces), arranged round inner courtyards. Along the south side, facing the quadrangle, were the Great Hall and Royal Chapel end to end.


Edward III’s State Apartments survived down to the seventeenth century, the later medieval kings hardly altering them. Edward IV built the present St George’s Chapel to the west of Henry III’s Chapel. (now the Albert Memorial Chapel) at its east end; he also added a new range to the west of the State Apartments which Elizabeth I extended by a Long gallery (all now occupied by the Royal Library). Henry VIII built the entrance gateway to the Lower Ward, and his daughter, Queen Mary, built the lodgings for the Military Knights on the south side of the Lower Ward.      

Charles II’s Baroque Palace

During the English Civil War in the mid-seventeenth century, the Castle was seized by Parliamentary forces that used it as a prison.
King Charles I was buried in St George’s Chapel after his execution at Whitehall in 1649.


On the Restoration of the monarchy in 1660 Charles II determined to reinstate Windsor as his principal non-metropolitan palace.

The architect Hugh May was appointed in 1673 to supervise the work, which took eleven years to complete. May kept the blocky, castellated exterior but regularized the elevations and inserted round arched windows, some of which are still visible today.


The interior was a rich contrast and contained the grandest Baroque State Apartments in England. The arrangement of duplicated sets for the King and Queen was kept but expanded. The walls were wainscoted in oak and festooned with brilliant virtuoso carvings by Grinling Gibbons and Henry Phillips. The ceilings were painted by Antonio Verrio, an Italian artist brought to Windsor from Paris by the Duke of Montagu. Only those in the Queen’s Presence and Audience Chambers and the King’s Dining Room have survived, but the general form and proportions of the State Apartments are as created by Charles II.
Picturesque Revival

William III and the early Hanoverian kings preferred Hampton Court to Windsor; however, George III chose it as his favorite residence. After recovery from his first illness in 1789, the King decided to move into the Castle. He initiated extensive works to the design of James Wyatt, who began to convert Hugh May’s windows to Gothic and to lighten the appearance of the state rooms by replacing the wainscot with colored damasks. At the same time a new state entrance and Gothic staircase were constructed. The State Apartments of the Upper Ward and precincts were open to the public on a regular basis by George II’s reign.

When George IV inherited the throne in 1820, he determined to continue the Gothic transformation of the exterior and the creation of comfortable and splendid new royal apartments. In his proposals for Windsor, George IV was influenced by his chief artistic adviser, Sir Charles Long. It was decided in 1823 to hold a limited competition for the work and Long drew up am informal brief. Its principal points were the heightening of Henry II’s Round Tower, the general enhancement of the silhouette with extra towers and battlements, the addition of the Grand Corridor round the Upper Ward, the creation of the creation of Waterloo Chamber to celebrate the Allied victory over Napoleon, the continuation up to the Castle of the Long Walk instituted by Charles II, and the making of the King George IV Gateway. Three leading architects, Sir John Soane, Sir Robert Smirke and John Nash, were asked to submit plans, as was the late James Wyatt’s nephew Jeffrey. The job was given to the last named. He carried out Long’s programme to the last detail, creating the present appearance of the Upper Ward, earning a knighthood and medievalising his surname to Wyatville. Inside the Castle new private rooms were made as a setting for George IV’s rich collections , and the old Hall and Chapel were knocked together to create a vast Gothic-revival  St George’s Hall. Charles II’s state rooms were refurbished, this work continuing (still under Wyatville’s direction) into the regin of William IV. George IV himself took up residence in the Castle in 1828.
Queen Victoria and the Twentieth Century


In many ways Windsor Castle reached its apogee in the reign of Queen Victoria. She spent the greatest portion of every year at Windsor, and in her reign it enjoyed the position of principal palace of the British monarchy and the Focus of the British Empire as well as the whole of royal Europe (many members of which were the Queen’s relations). The Castle was visited by Heads of State from all over the world. On these occasions the state rooms were used for their original purpose by royal guests.

Wyatville and George IV had left the Castle in such splendid order that no major work was required. Queen Victoria made a few minor alternations, reconstructing the Grand Staircase and converting a new Private Chapel (burnt in 1992) to the design of Edward Blore. In the Lower Ward the Curfew Tower and Horseshoe Cloisters were both restored, and the disused Chapel east of St George’s was remodeled with marble and mosaic as a memorial to Prince Albert, who died at Windsor Castle on 14 December 1861.

For most of the twentieth century the Castle survived as it was in the nineteenth century.

The Fire of 1992 


On 20 November 1992 a serious fire broke out in the Private Chapel at the north-east angle of the Upper Ward. It is thought to have been caused by a spotlight igniting a curtain high up over the altar. Despite the efforts of the Castle staff and the brigade, the fire spread rapidly at the roof level, destroying the ceilings of George IV’s St George’s Hall and Grand Reception Room, the Crimson Drawing Room and various subsidiary rooms. By great good fortune the rooms worst affected by the fire were empty at the time as they were in the course of being rewired. As a result few of the Castle’s artistic treasures were destroyed. The principal casualties were a fitted sideboard and a painting, George III at a Review by Sir William Beechey, both of which were too big to move.
Restoration 


The work of repair began immediately after the fire, and was completed in November 1997. There was considerable debate about the restoration of Windsor: should the damaged rooms be completely restored or replaced from scratch? Two committees were set up to supervise the work- a general Restoration Committee, chaired by the Duke of Edinburgh; and an Art and Design Committee, chaired by the Prince of Wales. In the event the damaged rooms were restored to the original George IV and Wyatville designs, but  those areas which had  been totally destroyed- including the old Private Chapel, the Holbein Room and the roof of St George’s  Hall- were rebuilt to harmonious new designs. The Sidell Gibson Partnership was chosen out of a short-list of four architects. Their aim has been to create modern Gothic, original in its detail, but continuing in a long English tradition stretching back almost without break to the Middle Ages. The Lantern Lobby is the principal new interior in the Castle. It is notable for its fine proportions and the ingenious handling of space to create interesting vistas and connections, as well as for its fine craftsmanship.
The Upper Ward and North Terrace
Tour of the Castle


Visitors make their way to the State Apartments in the Upper Ward, walking past the south and west sides of the Round Tower on the steep artificial motte constructed by order of William the Conqueror. The Round Tower itself was built in stone by Henry II in 1170, and extended upwards by Wayatville in 1828-30 for George IV to improve the overall silhouette. It is an irregular oval 31.4 meters (103 feet) by 28.6 meters (94 feet) in diameter. Since 1911 it has housed the Royal Archives. The deep moat protecting the motte has always been dry, the Castle being built on a porous chalk ridge. The moat is now the well-kept garden of the Governor of the Castle, whose official residence adjoins the so-called Norman Gate.

Entrance to the State Apartments is gained from the North Terrace, which enjoys extensive views over the Thames to Eton with the picturesque outline of the fifteenth-century College Chapel and Lupton’s Tower, the M4 motorway, the modern town of Slough and in the distance the wooded Buckinghamshire landscape. The white-painted domed house visible in the middle distance is Stoke Park, designed by James Wyatt for John Penn, grandson of the founder of Pennsylvania. The North Terrace was originally constructed in the sixteenth century by Henry VIII and widened by Charles II. To the east of the entrance hall is Queen Mary’s Dolls’ House, displayed in a specially designed room.
Queens Mary’s Dolls’ House


The Dolls’ was given to Queen Mary in 1924. It was designed by Sir Edwin Lutyens and nearly every item in it was specially commissioned on the tiny scale of one to twelve. It was intended as an accurate record of contemporary domestic design. The mechanical and engineering equipment-including the water system, the electrical lights and the two lifts- was made to work. The gramophone plays and the bottles in the wine cellar contain genuine vintage wines.

The furniture and other contents were made by the leading manufacturers of the day. The paintings were commissioned from well-known artists and the books on the shelves of the library were written by prominent authors, some in their own hand. Rudyard Kipling, G.K. Chesterton, Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, Thomas Hardly and J.M. Barrie are among the writers represented

On completion, the Dolls’ House was shown at the British Empire Exhibition at Wembley, London, in 1924 and in the following year at the ninth Ideal Home Exhibition at Olympia, London.

In the adjoining room there is a display of the dolls named France and Marianne, with some of their remarkable trousseaux. They were presented to The Queen and Princess Margaret by the children of France in 1938.
The Gallery


The central valuated undercroft originally created by James Wyatt and extended by Jeffry Wyatville as the principal entrance to the State Apartments, was cut off when the Grand Staircase was reorientated by Queen Victoria. It now houses special exhibitions from the Royal Collection. 

The China Museum

The caved Ionic capitals of the columns from Hugh May’s alterations for Charles II survive. In cases round the walls are displayed magnificent china services from leading English and European porcelain manufactories: Sèvres, Tournai, Meissen, Copenhagen, Naples, Rockingham and Worcester. These are still used for royal banquets and other important occasions.

The State Apartments
The Grand Staircase 


This is the third staircase to the main floor since the restoration of the Castle was begun by George III in the late eighteen century. James Wyatt constructed a staircase in the space now occupied by the Grand Vestibule. Wyatville removed it and built a new staircase on the present site, by roofing over the medieval Brick Court. This arrangement, in turn, was considered inconvenient and the present staircase on a revised alignment was contrived by Anthony Salvin in 1866.

The staircase is filled with light from a glazed timber carried on four stone arches. The walls are lined with trophies of arms which perpetuate arrangements originally worked out by Sir Samuel Rush Meyrick, who was knighted by Wiliam IV for his work. The large marble statue of George IV on the half-landing survives from Wyatville’s design and commemorates the monarch who is largely responsible for the present appearance of Windsor Castle. It was carved by Sir Francis Chantrey in 1828-32.
The Grand Vestibule


This was the top of James Wyatt’s staircase. When first built, the central lantern was 30 meters (100 feet) above floor level. The handsome plaster fan vault, with naturalistic foliage bosses and angels, was executed by Francis Bernasconi, a plasterer of genius who first worked at Windsor under James Wyatt, but continued under Wyatville. The glazed Gothic showcases round the sides of the room were made in 1888 to display Queen Victoria’s Golden Jubilee presents. They now contain a collection of arms, including trophies from the conquest of Seringapatam in India in 1799 and the Napoleonic Wars – not least the lead bullet that killed Nelson at Trafalgar in 1805. The room is dominated by a statue of Queen Victoria by Joseph Boehm (1871)

The Ante Throne Room


This small room is much reduced from its seventeenth-century dimensions; then it was the King’s Audience Chamber. Here stood the King’s chair of state until the reign of George III. Wyatville reduced it in size and turned it into an ante-room. Today it marks the approximate divide between that part of the Castle remodeled in the reign of George IV to make larger and grander reception rooms, and Charles II’s smaller State Apartments. The latter still retain their old layout and proportions and some of their seventeenth-century character and architectural detail, though Wyatville replaced all except three of Verrio’s painted ceilings on the grounds that they were irreparably decayed.

The room has recently been restored and hung with green damask. The carved oak cornice decorated with acanthus leaves alone survives from Grinling Gibbons’ work for Charles II.

The King’s Drawing Room


This was the third room in the King’s State Apartments. It and the following rooms are Charles II’s additions to the Castle, partly redecorated in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. In the nineteenth century this and the adjoining rooms were all occupied as a suite by state visitors, but they have been superseded by more comfortable bedrooms on the south side of the Castle. Today they are mainly used for the display of works of art from the Royal Collection.

In the nineteenth century the King’s Drawing Room was known as the Rubens Room from the paintings by Rubens and his school which still hang here today. Prince Albert developed the theme of hanging particular groups of paintings in particular rooms, which the visitor will note while going round the State Apartments. Wyatville’s geometrical plaster ceiling is embellished with the arms of George IV and the Garter Star. Sadly, it replaces one of Verrio’s most ambitious paintings, showing Charles II triumphant in a chariot, scattering his enemies. It was one of a series of thirteen painted ceilings that celebrated the Restoration of the English monarchy in 1660. They all had fulsomely Royalist subjects, and were influenced by Charles Lebrun’s work for Luis XIV at Versailles.

The seventeenth-century carved cornice by Grinling Gibbons with its crisply carved acanthus leaves survives, as do the paneled dado and 8-panelled doors. George III replaced the oak wall panels with bright damask. In his time it was Garter blue; George IV changed it to crimson. Now it is yellow. The early nineteenth-century Siena marble chimneypiece was designed by Wyatville, who also added the large bay window from which there is a good view over Eton. George IV’s body lay in state in this room after his death in 1830. Queen Victoria often used the room for private theatrical performances, a temporary stage being erected in the window bay.
The King’s Bed Camber 


George III removed the seventeenth-century wainscot from the walls and hung them with crimson cloth (most recently renewed in damask). Wyatville replaced Verrio’s painted ceiling of Charles II receiving homage with a plaster composition incorporating the Stuart royal arms and the date 1660 to commemorate the Restoration, but kept Grinling Gibbons’ excellent carved cornice. The white marble chimneypiece, designed by Sir William Chambers, was brought from Buckingham House. The bed, attributed to the French cabinet-maker Georges Jacob, was acquired by George IV. It was given its present hangings of green and purple for the State Visit of the Emperor Napoleon III in 1855. His initials and those of Empress Eugènie are embroidered on the foot of the bed. The Emperor was invested with the Order of the Garter by Queen Victoria while he was at Windsor.
The King’s Dessing Room

This room, though not large, makes up for its small scale in the superb quality of the paintings hanging in it. It is arranged as a picture cabinet and contains some of the finest small masterpieces in the Royal Collection, including portraits by Holbein, Dürer, Memling, Rubens and Rembrant. Over the fireplace hangs Van Dyck’s famous portrait of Charles I from three angles. This was painted to send to Bernini in Rome, to assist him in carving a marble bust of the King. The bust was lost in the fire that destroyed Whitehall Palace in 1698. The carved wooden cornice by Grinling Gibbons and the paneled dado survive from the time of Charles II. Here, as in the other state rooms, the walls were stripped of wainscot and hung with crimson cloth by George III. William IV eliminated the old painted ceiling and installed the existing moulded plaster design sporting his own monogram and arms, while the anchors and tridents recall his career In the Navy before he ascended the throne. The handsome white marble chimneypiece was brought from Queen Charlotte’s Breakfast Room at Buckingham House. King Charles II actually slept in this room rather than in his state bedroom next door, which he used for the official ceremony of levee (rising, resting and receiving) and private business.   
The King’s Closet


This was created out of two smaller rooms by James Wyatt in 1804. Here again the seventeenth-century cornice and dado survive (or have been copied), but the wall panels gave way to more cheerful hangings in the reign of George III and the present ceiling is of moulded plaster to Wyatville ‘s design. It is dated 1833 and displays the monogram and arms of Adelaide of Saxe-Meiningen, Queen Consort of King William IV. 
The Queen’s Drawing Room 

 
As at Hampton Court, the King and Queen’s State Apartments adjoin at right angles. All the Queen’s apartments survive, except the bed chamber which is now part of the adjoining Royal Library (not open to the public). The visitor sees them in reverse order. The Queen’s Drawing Room was originally hung with tapestry and Verrio’s ceiling was painted whit an assembly of the gods. In 1834 Wyatville remodeled the room, except the dado and cornice, to match the King’s rooms for William IV. His plaster ceiling with its broad mouldings and naturalistic foliage was intended to create a neo-Caroline effect. The arms are those of King William IV and Queen Adelaide. The large panes of glass in the windows are among the earliest plate glass in England. The white marble chimneypiece was commissioned by George III, but in its original position. Now displayed here are some of the finest sixteenth- and seventeenth-century English portraits in the Royal Collection, including four by Holbein.

The visitor makes a detour from the Queen’s apartments, thought the Octagon Lobby, to the King’s Dining Room.
The Octagon Lobby


This has oak panels and reset Gibbons carvings, including splendid oval reliefs of the heads of saints from the old Royal Chapel.

The King’s Dining Room 


 This room retains much of its Charles II character, thought it was modified by Salvin when he rebuilt the adjoining Grand Staircase; he inserted the skylights over the alcoves, which were originally for musicians and servants. It is now rather dark but originally the room was lit by windows into the Brick Court. Verrio’s ceiling survives here; it depicts a banquet of the god. The still lives of fruit, fish and fowl in the coving are particulary attractive; note the lobster .This magnificent wood carvings are by Grinling Gibbons and his assistant Henry Phillips, but were not all originally in this room; the palm fronds over the alcoves, for instance, were in the Chapel. In this room Charles II dined in public on certain days, as did Louis XIV at Versailles. At the end of the meal he withdrew to the adjoining King’s Drawing Room.


This room owes something of its present appearance to Queen Mary, consort of George V, who in the early twentieth-century oversaw the restoration of the State Apartments. Here, she replaced the oak wainscot and installed the two Brussels tapestries with the arms of William III. Other pieces from this set are at Het Loo, William III’s palace in Holland.
The Queen’s Ballroom


Returning to the Queen’s rooms, we reach the ballroom or Queen’s Gallery, extensively remodeled by Wyatville for William IV. During a State Visit to Windsor Castle, the visiting Head of State receives members of the Diplomatic Corps here. It retains a Charles II dado and carved cornice. The white marble chimney, one of George III’s, was brought form the Queen’s Bed Chamber when the latter was converted into part of the Royal Library. The three magnificent glass chandeliers, also commissioned by George III, are among the finest English examples. Since the nineteenth-century the room has been known as the Van Dyck Room; it is hung entirely with portraits by him. The silver furniture here is a very rare survival of the grandest seventeenth-century royal taste. Comparable examples now exist at Knole in Kent and Rosenborg Castle in Copenhagen. All Louis XIV’s silver furniture at Versailles, which inspired the fashion, was melted down towards the end of his reign to pay for his European wars.
The Queen’s Audience Chamber


This room and the adjoining Presence Chamber are the best-preserved survivors from Charles II’s time, and give an idea of the appearance of all the State Apartments as remodeled for him by Hugh May and his team of brilliant craftsmen. Verrio’s painted ceilings shows Catherine of Branganza (wife of Charles II) being drawn in a chariot by swans towards a temple of virtue, while the cove is treated as a faux balustrade. The general form of the ceilings is inspired by Le Brun’s work at Versailles. The cornice, carved with acanthus leaves, and the festoons of fruit and flowers framing portraits in the overdoors are by Grinling Gibbons, Henry Philips and their assistants. Thought inspired by Louis XIV’s palace interiors, the use of wainscot and wood carvings rather than marbles gives the Windsor rooms a different character. The general appearance of the room with oak wainscot framing tapestries recalls the original appearance of the Queen’s Drawing Room, though these particular tapestries were acquired for George IV In Paris in 1825. In the seventeenth century the Queen’s chair of state stood here under a canopy. The chimneypiece, by William Kent, was brought from St Jame’s in the early nineteenth century to replace one with a plain bolection moulding.
The Queen’s Presence Chamber


This is an even more splendid example of hug May’s work than the Audience Chamber. Verrio’s ceiling shows Catherine of Braganza seated under a canopy held by zephyrs while figures of Envy and Sedition retreat before the outstretched Sword of Justice. The cornice and carved festoons of the overmantel and overdoors are further demonstrations of the genius of the English seventeenth-century school of wood carves. The large marble chimneypiece incorporates a clock flanked by reclining figures of Vigilance and Patience. It was carved by John Bacon R.A. in 1789 and was originally made for the Saloon at Buckingham House. The Gobelins tapestries were acquired by George IV. This room is now used by the Knights of the Garter as their Robing Room before the procession to St George’s Chapel on Garter Day.
The Queen Guard Chamber


Originally there were two Guard Chambers, one at the entry to the King’s apartments (on the site of the Grand Reception Room) and this, which was the entrance to the Queen’s apartments. It was remodeled in the Gothic style with a plaster rib vault by Wyatville for George IV. Over the busts of Marlborough and Wellington hang replica French flags, the royal fleurs-de-lys for Marlborough and the tricolour for Wellington. There are presented each year to The Queen by the present Dukes as quit-rents for their estates at Blenheim and Stratfield Saye respectively. The chimneypiece is of polished Dent limestone. Wyatville added the large bay window over the State Entrance, which gives good views into the Quadrangle. Immediately opposite is the George IV Gateway, beyond which the axis is continued for three miles into the Great Park by the Long Walk. The display of arms on the walls derives from Sir Samuel Rush Meyrick’s arrangement, which in turn was based on seventeenth-century ideas for the decorative use of arms in the Royal Armouries. The Indian ivory throne in the centre of the Guard Chamber was a present from the Maharajah of Travancore to Queen Victoria in 1851. Today the room is used for receptions of the Diplomatic Corps when they come to pay their respects to a visiting Head of State. The heralds change into their tabards here before the Garter Service in St George’s Chapel.
St George’s Hall


St George’s Hall is one of the most historic rooms in the Castle and has for six centuries been associated with the Order of the Garter. It occupies the site of Edward III’s Great Hall and Chapel. These have been redecorated by Hug May for Charles II, with murals by Verrio and carvings by Grinling Gibbons; they formed the climax of Baroque Windsor. The murals were very largely destroyed, except for a few areas which survived beneath the later plaster, when Wyatville knoked together the old Hall and Chapel in 1829 to create one enormously long room of over 55 meters (180 feet). One fragment of the ceiling, showing Charles II, has recently been reacquired by the Royal Collection. This romantic Gothic interior was inspired by Sir Walter Scott, whose novels, set in the middle Ages, were greatly admired by George IV. When the interior of the Castle was remodeled in the 1820s by Wyatville, Gothic was chosen for all the processional spaces while eclectic classical was mainly used for the reception rooms. In St George’s Hall, Wyatville’s ceiling (of plaster grained to resemble oak) was decorated with the coats of all the Knights of the Garter from their foundation, a scheme devised by Thomas Willement, the King’s heraldic artist. The walls were embellished with alternate trophies of weapons and figures in armour. An important addition tomthis scheme, as a part of the recent restoration, is the equestrian figure of the King’s Chamber which now faces down the Hall from the new balcony at the east end. The Champion ( an hereditary office held by the Dymoke family) used to ride into the Coronation Banquet in Westminster Hall, throw down his gauntlet three times and challenge anyone to deny the new sovereign. This ceremony last took place at George IV’s Coronation in 1821.

St George’s Hall was seriously damaged by the fire of 1992. The ceiling and the east wall, which contained a large a large double-sided organ by Father Willis, where destroyed. The new green oak roof has been designed by Giles Downes of the Sidell Gibson Partnership and is of hammerbeam construction. It is the largest oak hammerbeam roof to have been built in the twentieth century, and is more steeply pitched than Wyatville’s. The overall proportions and appearance of the room are now considered greatly improved. The new oak screen at the east end, also designed by Giles Downes, supports oak carvings of the Queen’s Beasts on the parapet; these were given by the City of London. The decorative plaster garter and rose in the gable was presented by the Commonwealth; each of the fifty-four petals represents a country. The new oak floor incorporates trees grown on the estates of Knights of the Garter. The scheme of shields of every Garter Knight has been re-created on the ceiling and is continued round the room. It is a vigorous example of heraldic decoration and is and is completed by the new heraldic stained glass created by John Reyntiens in the top lights of the windows. The side walls and west screen survived the fire and have been repaired. The full-length portraits and the marble busts have been repaired. The full-length portraits and the marble busts from a royal pantheon, while Wyatville’s great Gothic ‘throne of Edward III’ has been reinstalled in its old position at the east end.
The Private Chapel


Designed by Giles Downes of the Sidell Gibson Partnership as a part of the restoration of the Castle following the 1992 fire, this is the private chapel of the Royal Family. Its intimate proportions give it something of the character of a little medieval chantry chapel. The altar apse neatly interlocks the angle of the Lantern Lobby, and accommodates a new altar table by David Linely while the stained glass window opposite, by Joseph Nuttgens, commemorates the fire of 1992 and subsequent restoration. The altarpiece is by Berto di Giovanni, a Perugian contemporary of Raphael, and was purchased by Queen Victoria in 1853. The Gothic chairs were designed for the Castle by the 15-year-old A.W.N. Pugin in 1827.
The Lantern Lobby


This new room, which occupies the site of Queen Victoria’s Private Chapel, creates a new processional sequence through the Castle. The fire began here in November 1992, completely gutting the Chapel. Part of the carved stone reredos above the altar survived the flames and has been restored as a memorial to the conflagration. The inscription reads: ‘The fire of 20th November 1992 began here. Restoration of the fire-damaged area was completed five years later, on 20th November 1997, the fiftieth anniversary of the wedding of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II  and His Royal Highness The Duke of Edinburgh.’


The new, tall, octagonal lobby created in the gutted area is inspired by Ely Cathedral and the Abbey of Batalha in Portugal. The result is a carefully proportioned space which neatly solves the problem of the change of axis in the north-east corner of the Castle between St George’s Hall and the Royal Apartments to the south and east. Eight oak columns support a ribbed vault and a central glazed lantern. Though the feel is medieval, the finely executed and original detail celebrates modern Gothic design and British craftsmanship, especially in the joinery of the columns and vault, and in such features as the stamped red leather and delicate ironwork of the central doors to St George’s Hall. There is also a finely inlaid floor of English marbles depicting the Garter Star, but this is sometimes overlaid with an octagonal carpet of similar pattern, made at Axminster for the new room in 1997.

The Lobby has been partly conceived as a treasury with wall cases to display silver gilt from the Royal Collection, including chapel and buffet plate and some of George IV’s more unusual commissions such as Flaxman’s National Cup (1824). On axis with the central door from St George’s Hall stands Henry VIII’s armour, a masterpiece from the workshop established by the workshop established by the King at Greenwich.
The Semi-State Apartments

The New Corridor


Here hang four portraits, two by Ramsay and one each by Reynolds and Zoffany: attributed to Allan Ramsay, Elizabeth Albertina, Princess of Mecklenberg-Strelitz, c.1760; Johann Zoffany, Prince Ernest of Mecklenberg-Strelitz, c.1772; Sir Joshua Reynolds, George III, c.1780; Allan Ramsay, Prince George Augustus of Mecklenberg-Strelitz, c 1769. 
The Green Drawing Room 

This room largely survived by water. The opportunity has been taken to replace the silk for walls and redesign the window curtains to match more closely the Morel and Seddon scheme designed for George IV, who intended this room as a library. After the establishment of the new Royal Library, the book-cases were adapted to display another of his acquisitions, the Sèvres service made for Louis XVI, which is one of the finest in existence.

The gilded ceiling by Wyatville is his most accomplished at Windsor. There is a tautness and perfection pf detail in the work executed during George IV’s lifetime that is lacking from the state rooms decorated in the next reign. The seat furniture is part of a huge set commissioned by George IV from Morel and Seddon. The bronze were mainly assembled by George IV and include the Four Seasons by Desjardins mounted as candelabra by Caffieri for the comte d’Orsay. The Axminster carpet was designed by Ludwing Gruner for Queen Victoria and shown at the Great Exhibition in 1851, where it was greatly admired as a n excellent example of English manufacture. It survived the fire of 1992 but is now too delicate to allow visitors to walk on it.
The Crimson Drawing Room


This was the principal room in George IV’s semi-state rooms. The general form of the room- a long rectangle with a broad bay window overlooking the East Terrace Garden – was designed by Jeffry Wyatville, but the decoration was entrusted to Morel and Seddon. They were responsible for the wall decorations, including the framed panels of silk, and the window curtains. The room also incorporates fittings from Carlton House, notably the black marble and bronze chimneypiece by the Vulliamys (a pair to that in the Garden Drawing Room) and the four pairs of carved and gilded doors. This room, like the Green Drawing Room, is very much an expression of George IV’s personal taste, reflecting the spirit of some of the drawing rooms at Carlton House. It was severely damaged in the 1992 fire. The ceiling collapsed and large areas of the walls were badly calcined. The restoration has been carried out by Donald Insall and Partners, a firm of specialist conservation architects which has been responsible for all the restoration, as opposed to the new work, in the fire-damaged part of the Castle. The opportunity has been taken to reweave the silk damask wall hangings to the stripped pattern and rich crimson colour chosen for the room by George IV. Window curtains of the same material have also been reinstalled to designs which reflect the lavishness of Morel and Seddon’s original scheme, using photographs of the room taken in 1867. The new curtains and rich passementerie were devised by Pamela Lewis, who has been responsible for the design of all the upholstery restoration. The reinstated ceiling incorporates many fragments of the original plasterwork by Bernasconi, salvaged from the debris after the fire.

As intended by George IV, the room is furnished with Morel and Seddon’s seat furniture and also sumptuous French works of art including three pairs of pietra dura and ebony cabinets and six ormolu candelabra by Thomire. The vast crystal chandelier, though made for George IV, was hung here earlier this century by Queen Mary. It was severely damaged in the fire but has now been completely restored. The oval misse-en-scène evokes the splendour of Carlton House to a remarkable degree. This and the adjoining rooms are the finest and most complete examples in existence of late-Gregorian taste in decoration, and the recent restoration has enhanced their quality as a sequence of inter-related spaces.
The State Dining Room 


In contrast to the drawing rooms, George IV chose the Gothic style for this room. The juxtaposition of Gothic and classical decoration was an aspect of George IV’s taste also to be found at Carlton House. The room was gutted in the 1992 fire, as it had been (thought less badly) on a previous occasion in 1853. The largest of the sideboards, being too big to move, was destroyed, as was Beechey’s painting hanging above, George III at a Review. The sideboard has been remade by the firm of N.E.J.Stevenson.

The room has been restored to Wyatville’s design with its cambered, cusped and coffered ceiling, all painted stone colour and gold. The opportunity has been taken to restore important original details removed earlier this century in an attempt to lighten the room. These included the pilaster strips on the walls vigorously modeled with gilded vines and grapes. The crimson curtains and crimson Gothic carpet reflect the original Morel and Seddon scheme, again using photographs taken in 1867. The sideboards and side tables were all designed in 1827 for Morel and Seddon by the young A.W.N.Pugin, whose first work this was. He later disowned  this juvenilia, though admitting that ‘the parts were correct and exceedingly well executed’. They comprise the best Gothic revival furniture of their date in Europe. Since the fire, the large St Petersburg porcelain vase has been placed in the north window. It shows Russian palaces and was a gift from Tsar Nicholas I to Queen Victoria. The bronze lamps round the room were made in 1810 by the Vulliamys  for George IV at Carlton House. The huge group portrait over the sideboard is The Family of Frederick, Prince of Wales, by George Knapton.
The Octogon Dining Room


The Brunswick Tower, in which this room is situated, was an addition by Wyatville. There was no medieval precedent for an octagonal tower here. It is the moast satisfying of Wyatville’s smaller Gothic rooms. It too was gutted in 1992, when the Brunswick Tower become a huge chimney for the smoke and flames in the last and most dramatic episode of the fire. All the floors collapsed and the flames shot 15 metres (50 feet) into the sky above the battlements. Despite the severity of the blaze, Wyatville’s dark marble Gothic chimneypiece and the stone tracery of the windows survived. Fortunately the original furnishings were in stone. The room has therefore been reinstalled according to Wyatville’s plans. The Gothic oak furniture was designed by the young Pugin in 1827 and made by Morel and Seddon. The magnificent gilt metal Gothic chandelier, also by Pugin, was buried under 3 metres (10 feet) of rubble in the Private Chapel. It has now been restored and replaced here in the room for which it was made. 
The State Apartments (Continued)
The Grand Reception room


This room, perhaps more than any other of the state rooms at Windsor, represents George IV’s personal, Francophile taste. It was designed under the King’s immediate supervision with the assistance of Sir Charles Long, who bought eighteenth-century French paneling in Paris in 1825 specially for the wall decorations. This was incorporated with composition stucco by Francis Bernasconi to match, mking a complete framework for six Gobelins tapestries from the Jason series which were also bought in paris by long. Bernasconi modeled the elaborate plaster cove and ceiling, which were severely damaged in the 1992 fire but have been painstakingly restored. The gilded ornaments were designed by Frederick and John Crace, who previously worked for George IV at Brighton Pavilion.


Wyatville himself was rather ambivalent about all this gilded splendor. His assistant Henry Ashton later remarked: ‘the introduction of French boiserie….would never have appeared in the castle had the architect been solely guided by his own judgment’. This impressive ‘Louis Quatorze’ decoration was, however, a great success, starting a fashion in London and English country houses that lasted throughout the nineteenth-century.


As part of the post-1992 restoration all the gilding has been renewed and the room can now be seen in George IV’s original dazzling splendor. The three  superb gilt bronze and glass chandeliers collapsed in the fire but have been meticulously pieced together.  The parquetry floor round the edge of the room is the original; blocks singed in the fire have been reversed. The huge malachite urn in the window is one of the largest outside Russia and was given to Queen Victoria by Tsar Nicholas I. It was too heavy to move, but survived with only superficial damage.

The room was intended by George IV as a ballroom and is now used by The Queen to greet her guests before State Banquets.

The Garter Throne Room


This was formed by Wyatville out of the first two of Charles II’s state rooms, the King’s Privy or Audience Chambeer; the shallow arch in front of the throne marks the line of the old wall between the two rooms. Wyatville removed Verrio’s rich painted ceilings, which were deemed in bad condition, and replaced them with moulded plaster ceilings of his own design, ingeniously making use of the insignia and collar of the Order of the Garter (as he had already done in the ceiling of the drawing room at Badminton in 1811). Grinling Gibbons’ seventeenth-century carved cornice survives or was copied, as does the wainscot of the dado, but the principal oak wall panels (together with the gilt wall lights and chandeliers) were inserted by Queen Mary to replace blue damask panels. The fine wood carvings are all reused   from elsewhere; examples are the festoons over the fireplace surrounding a state portrait of The Queen and the more delicate panels incorporating the Garter Star over the doors flanking the throne. When George IV acceded to the throne and embarked on the reconstruction of Buckingham Palace and Windsor Castle, he sent many fixtures and fittings from his former London residence, Carlton House, to Windsor for incorporation in the new rooms there. The carved gilt throne canopy was made originally for King George III’s Audience Chamber at Windsor. It is in this room that The Queen invests new Knights and Ladies of the Garter with the insignia of the Order, before their installation in St George’s Chapel on Garter Day.
The Waterloo Chamber


This room, dominated by the portrait of the 1sr Duke of Wellington, was conceived by George IV to commemorate the deafet of Napoleon. He comissioned portraits from Sir Thomas Lawrence of the Allied monarchs, statesmen and commanders who had contributed to the victory. Lawrence travelled round Europe  to create this bravura series of more than twenty portraits; Pius VII is considered to be his masterpiece.

It was part of Sir Charles Long’s brief for the reconstruction of the Castle that a setting be created for Lawrence’s portraits, and for annual banquet on the annyversary of Waterloo on 15 June. Wyatville chose the larger of Edward III’s inner courtyards – Horn Court – and roofed it over with an ingenious timber ceiling containing a raking clerestory reminiscent of ship’s carpentry. 

The panelling round the lower part of the room incorporates seventeenth-century wood carvings by Grinling Gibbons and his workshop salvaged from Charles II’s demolished Chapel, such as the palm fronds over the large doors at either end. The ‘Elizabethan’ fretted plaster decoration on the upper walls and the unusual glass chandeliers, by Osler were added by Queen Victoria.

The room is used for the annual luncheon for the Knights of the Garter and their spouses in June, when the table – decorated with silver gilt, flowers and china from one of the historic services in the Royal Collection – is set for fifty to sixty guests. The room is also used for concerts and balls. This and all the rooms at Windsor look their best en fête for the great occasions for which they were intended.

The Upper Ward
Engine Court and the Quadrangle 

After leaving the State Apartments, the Quadrangle can be seen from the low iron railings across the north-west corner. Diagonally opposite is the Sovereign’s Entrance, which gives access to the private Royal Apartments on the south and east sides. All along the south and east sodes is the Grand Corridor added by Wyatville for George IV to improve the communications between the different parts of the Castle. The bronze equestrian statue of Charles II was cast in 1679 by Josiah Ibach, a German. It surveys the Quadrangle from the foot of the motte. Wyatville’s granite plinth incorporates a small fountain and carved marble panels by Grinling Gibbons. The Quadrangle provides the setting for many colourful cereminies. When a foreign Head of State pays a State Visit he or she takes the salute here at a rank past of the Royal Korse Artilery, followed by the Sovereign’s Escort of the Household Cavalry and a march past of the Guard of Honour. When The Queen is in official residence the Changing of the Guard takes place in the Quadrangle. The Guard is frequently formed from a battalion of one of the Household regiments.
The Lower Ward
St George’s Chapel


St George’s Chapel is the spiritual home of the Order of the Garter, Britain’s senior Order of Chivalry, founded by King Edward III in 1348. St George is the patron saint of the Order. The building of the Chapel was begun by King Edward IV in 1475. By 1484 the Choir was finished, roofed in wood. His son-in-law, King Henry VII, completed the nave and added the stone-vaulted ceiling throughout before his death in 1509. King Henry VIII completed the building by 1528.

The architecture of the Chapel ranks among the finest examples of Perpendicular Gothic, the late medieval style of English architecture.


As Sovereign of the Order of the Garter, The Queen attends a service here in June each year, together with the Knights and Ladies of the Order. Ten sovereigns are buried in the Chapel, all represented by magnificent tombs.

The Albert Memorial Chapel


The richly decorated interior of this fifteenth-century chapel was created by George Gilbert Scott for Queen Victoria to commemorate her husband Prince Albert, who died in 1861. The valuatied ceiling has gold mosaic by Antonio Salviati. The inlaid marble panels by Henry de Triqueti around the lower walls depict scenes form Scripture. The marble effigy of Prince Albert himself is also by Triqueti.

The Chapel is now dominated by Alfred Gilbert’s masterpiece, the tomb of the Duke of Clarence and Avondale (elder son of Edward VII).
The Lower Ward



The Lower Ward is occupied by the College of St George, founded by Edward III as part of the Order of the Garter. On the left, as one descends the hill, are lodgings of the Military Knights, and beyond is the Henry VIII Gateway. At the bottom is the Guard House (1862). Most of the right-hand side is occupied by St George’s Chapel and the Albert Memorial Chapel. Behind is a warren of medieval cloistrs and buildings forming the houses and offices of the clergy attached to the Chapel, including the choir school. These have developed over the centuries over the centuries out of Henry III’s buildings in the Lower Ward.
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